

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Angelov, Nikolay; Eliason, Marcus

Working Paper The differential earnings and income effects of involuntary job loss on workers with disabilities

Working Paper, No. 2014:26

Provided in Cooperation with:

IFAU - Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy, Uppsala

Suggested Citation: Angelov, Nikolay; Eliason, Marcus (2014) : The differential earnings and income effects of involuntary job loss on workers with disabilities, Working Paper, No. 2014:26, Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy (IFAU), Uppsala

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/106270

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



The differential earnings and income effects of involuntary job loss on workers with disabilities

Nikolay Angelov Marcus Eliason

WORKING PAPER 2014:26

The Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy (IFAU) is a research institute under the Swedish Ministry of Employment, situated in Uppsala. IFAU's objective is to promote, support and carry out scientific evaluations. The assignment includes: the effects of labour market and educational policies, studies of the functioning of the labour market and the labour market effects of social insurance policies. IFAU shall also disseminate its results so that they become accessible to different interested parties in Sweden and abroad.

IFAU also provides funding for research projects within its areas of interest. The deadline for applications is October 1 each year. Since the researchers at IFAU are mainly economists, researchers from other disciplines are encouraged to apply for funding.

IFAU is run by a Director-General. The institute has a scientific council, consisting of a chairman, the Director-General and five other members. Among other things, the scientific council proposes a decision for the allocation of research grants. A reference group including representatives for employer organizations and trade unions, as well as the ministries and authorities concerned is also connected to the institute.

Postal address: P.O. Box 513, 751 20 Uppsala Visiting address: Kyrkogårdsgatan 6, Uppsala Phone: +46 18 471 70 70 Fax: +46 18 471 70 71 ifau@ifau.uu.se www.ifau.se

Papers published in the Working Paper Series should, according to the IFAU policy, have been discussed at seminars held at IFAU and at least one other academic forum, and have been read by one external and one internal referee. They need not, however, have undergone the standard scrutiny for publication in a scientific journal. The purpose of the Working Paper Series is to provide a factual basis for public policy and the public policy discussion.

ISSN 1651-1166

The differential earnings and income effects of involuntary job loss on workers with disabilities^a

by

Nikolay Angelov^b and Marcus Eliason^c

October 28, 2014

Abstract

People with disabilities, both in Sweden and elsewhere, are consistently found to face considerable difficulties on the labour market. In this study we have investigated the differential impact of involuntary job loss, on earnings and income, if being disabled. Our main findings are that earnings of those with and without disabilities began to diverge already several years prior to job loss because of a much larger incidence of longer periods of absence due to either sickness or rehabilitation. The seemingly permanent earnings differential following job loss seems to have been a consequence of much more of the job losers with disabilities not returning to employment but instead becoming disability retirees. Although the earnings differential experienced by the job seekers with disabilities was considerable during the post-job loss period, a majority of the difference was replaced by public social insurances.

Keywords: Disability, job loss, unemployment JEL-codes: J14; J64; J68

^aThe authors thank Pathric Hägglund, Per Johansson and seminar participants at IFAU and ISF for valuable comments.

^bIFAU, nikolay.angelov@ifau.uu.se

^cIFAU, marcus.eliason@ifau.uu.se

Table of contents

| 1 | Introduction | 3 |
|------|--|---|
| 2 | Background | 5 |
| 2.1 | Defining disability | 5 |
| 2.2 | The Swedish labour market during 1992–2010 | |
| 2.3 | The Swedish social insurance system | |
| 3 | Data and method | |
| 3.1 | The data sources | |
| 3.2 | The measure of disability | |
| 3.3 | The measure of involuntary job loss | |
| 3.4 | The sample | |
| 3.5 | Background characteristics | |
| 3.6 | The income measures – descriptive results | |
| 3.7 | Estimation strategy | |
| 4 | Results | |
| 4.1 | The differential impact of job loss on earnings and income | |
| 4.2 | Heterogeneity by type of disability | |
| 4.3 | Sensitivity to the definition of disability | |
| 4.4 | Limitations | |
| 5 | Discussion and conclusions | |
| Refe | erences | |

1 Introduction

In 2000, the Swedish Parliament adopted the Government Bill "From patient to citizen: a national action plan for disability policy" based on the United Nations Standard Rules for the Equalization of Opportunities of Persons with Disabilities. One of its stated goals is that disabled people should have the same opportunities to participate in working life as everyone else. Sweden has also a long tradition of labour market policies explicitly targeting job seekers with disabilities, ranging from in-work aids to subsidized employments, aiming at strengthening their position on the labour market.¹ Still, people with disabilities in the labour market.² In Sweden, only half of those with an impairment that entails reduced work capacity participate in the labour force, and among them, the unemployment rate is more than twice the unemployment rate among others (Statistics Sweden, 2009).

In this study, we have investigated the differential effects of involuntary job loss on earnings and income if being disabled. Although there is a substantial body of empirical research, both in the United States and Europe, suggesting the existence of considerable private costs of job loss in terms of foregone earnings and income (e.g., Jacobson et al., 1993; Stevens, 1997; Eliason and Storrie, 2006; Couch and Placzek, 2010; Hijzen et al., 2010; Davis and von Wachter, 2011; Huttunen et al., 2011; Korkeamäki and Kyyrä, 2014), none of these studies examined whether there is a differential impact of job loss if being disabled. However, two studies have investigated the impact of the Great Recession on workers with disabilities in the US. Fogg et al. (2010) reported that during the recession persons with disabilities had a 43 percentage point lower labour force participation rate, a 41 percentage point lower employment rate, and a 6 percentage point higher unemployment rate, but provided no comparison to a time period preceding the recession. Kaye (2010) observed a proportional decline in employment among people with disabilities that was more than twice that of those without disabilities, and that the increase in the unemployment rate was almost 70 percent larger, and the job exit rate 80 percent higher

¹All these programs are regulated in Government Ordinance 2000:630 regarding special contributions for persons with impairments entailing a reduced work capacity.

²See Jones (2008) for a review of the empirical literature on the labour market consequences of disability.

among persons with disabilities compared to their counterparts without disabilities.

One probable reason there is a lack of studies on workers or job losers with disabilities is the difficulties in measuring and defining disability. Here, we have utilized the Public Employment Service's (PES') classification of occupational disability. Hence, we could identify the job losers that registered with the PES and who were classified as occupationally disabled and those who were not. We used exact covariate matching to construct a sample of job losers without disabilities that was identical to our sample of job losers with disabilities with respect to socio-demographic characteristics. To investigate the differential effects of job loss on earnings and income if being disabled we applied a fixed effect estimator to the matched sample. Our main finding is that there was a huge permanent gap in earnings, in favour of the job losers without disabilities, following job loss. Much of this earnings differential was replaced by various public transfers - mostly disability pension – leaving a much smaller income gap. However, and most importantly, the gap in earnings following job loss seem to have emerged already during the year preceding job loss due to extended periods of sickness absence, leaving us with the conclusion that the onset of disability, for considerable part of the job losers with disabilities, actually occurred during these years.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. In the next section we start with brief descriptions of the concepts of disability, the economic environment in Sweden during the time period under study, and the Swedish social insurance system. The following section first presents how our sample is constructed (including our definitions of both disability and involuntary job loss). Then follows an investigation of how the job losers with and without disabilities differed in socio-demographic background characteristics, in their earnings trajectories before and after job loss, and in the extent they relied on social insurances during the same time period. The section closes with a description of our estimation strategy. In Section 4, we present our estimates of the differential impact of job loss, if being disabled, on earnings and income. That section also contains a heterogeneity analysis with respect to the type of disability and a discussion of the limitations of the study including an analysis of the sensitivity to altering our definition of disability. Finally, Section 5 discusses our findings and concludes.

2 Background

2.1 Defining disability

The conceptualization of disability has been an ongoing process during recent decades and there is still no universally accepted definition. In rough outlines the focus has shifted from medically-oriented to socially- or environmentally-oriented.³ How to define disability is not only intrinsically difficult but from the researcher's point of view it is also constrained by data availability. Both survey data and administrative data have previously been used to identify populations of people with disabilities. In survey data, disability is often defined in terms of functional limitations or impairments as in the Swedish Living Conditions Survey, or as self-perceived disability as in the Swedish Labour Force Survey. In administrative data, disability is instead defined based on eligibility to certain welfare benefits such as disability insurance or assistance allowances. Each type of source and definition has its merits and pitfalls. Self-reported measures of disability, on the one hand, are not only subjective but also likely to depend on the very same economic conditions that we would like to examine. For example, someone currently unemployed may report that an impairment is work-limiting as a way of justifying being unemployed, i.e., "justification bias" (Bound, 1991). Likewise, someone currently employed may report that an impairment is not work-limiting just because s/he is working at the time when answering the question. Administrative definitions of disability, on the other hand, are based on examinations of peoples' eligibility for a certain support from the state. As different support systems have different eligibility criteria, such definitions will vary greatly. Moreover, most of them are likely to exclude a large fraction of those who would be deemed as having minor disabilities according to any other definition.

In the present study, we have utilized the PES' classification of occupational disability. Although this measure is not associated with the same biases as self-reported measures it cannot be viewed as an objective measure of disability. As all other administrative mea-

³In 2001, Sweden and the other 190 WHO member states officially endorsed the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) for use as the international standard to describe and measure health and disability. The framework of the ICF attempts to combine the medical and social focus into a "bio-psycho-social" model, where disability is understood as a dynamic interaction between impairments and personal and environmental factors.

sures of disability it defines eligibility and not disability. Therefore, there is an incentive structure that cannot be disregarded. The PES and the job seekers have different incentives to give and to accept a disability code, respectively (Johansson and Skedinger, 2009). On the one hand, from the PES' point of view, the goals set by the Government in the annual appropriation directions may affect the incentive structure. On the other hand, from the job seeker's point of view, the incentives may differ from person to person, since receiving a disability code implies that the job seeker may enjoy more "exclusive" measures, but may also be stigmatizing.

The terminology used by the PES has been "work handicap" (arbetshandikapp) or "occupational disability", which is defined as a reduced work capacity due to a physical, mental, cognitive, or socio-medical disability, which cause or is expected to cause difficulties to get or keep a regular employment (Government ordinance 1991:333). The use of the term "work handicap" was criticized, however, not only by the disability rights movement but also in state inquiries (e.g., SOU 2003:95). The main criticism was that the term led the thought to medicalization and diagnostization, focused on individual deficits instead of environmental conditions, and that emphasis was on the disability instead of the actual ability to work. The inquiry proposed that the term should be abolished and instead be replaced with two terms: "reduced work capacity" and "need of special support". This resulted in a government bill (2005/06:1) proposing that the term should be changed to "people with functional impairments that entail reduced work capacity", a change that took effect 1st January, 2006. Impairment should be understood as a reduction of physiological, psychological, or intellectual functioning as a result of a disease or disorder or a congenital or acquired injury. Such a condition can be either transitory or permanent. The concept "work capacity" is not legally regulated, but the PES' internal documents state that work capacity is determined by the interplay of a job seeker's individual characteristics, a specific work task, and the work environment.

The PES' occupational disability coding system does not only consists of a code for whether a job seeker is occupationally disabled or not, but contains 11 different occupational disability codes depending on the specific impairment. These codes are: (11) cardio, vascular, and/or lung disease; (20) hearing impairment and deafness; (30) visual impairment; (40) motor handicap; (51) other somatically related disabilities; (61) mental disability; (71) learning disability; (81) socio-medical disability; (91) asthma, allergy, and hypersensitivity; (92) dyslexia and specific learning difficulties; and (93) acquired brain injury.^{4,5}

2.2 The Swedish labour market during 1992–2010

The period 1992–2010 began with the deepest economic crisis since the Great Depression and ended with the financial crisis of 2008–2010, also referred to as the Great Recession. The developments of the labour force participation, employment, and unemployment rates during this period are depicted in *Figure 1*.





In the last quarter of 1993 the unemployment rate had increased to over 11 percent from a low of 1.9 percent in 1989. During the same period, the labour force participation fell

⁴In July 2000, codes 20, 30, and 40 were replaced by two codes each (i.e., 21–22, 31–32, and 41–42) also categorizing the severity of the impairment. In all analysis the codes 21–22, 31–32, and 41–42 will be collapsed to correspond to the old codes 20, 30, and 40, respectively.

⁵As all, but one, of the disability codes above are self-explanatory no further descriptions will be provided here (a comprehensive description can be found in Angelov and Eliason, 2014). Socio-medical disability, however, is a code that lacks an international equivalent. The PES' internal documents state that the impairments contained in this code are caused by social difficulties that have led to long-lasting need of means-tested social benefits, or by complex relational problems, substance abuse, criminality, or difficult childhood and adolescence. To receive such a code, an investigation performed either by the PES' own social consultants or by another government agency (e.g., the Social services) that confirms the socio-medical impairment, and establishes how it affects the conditions for work, is necessary. For most other disability codes a medical report or a report from another specialist describing the extent of impairment and its effect on work capacity is required, while for those with congenital deafness (code 20) and learning disabilities (code 71), it is sufficient to receive documentation from a specialist school.

by four percentage points to 80.7 percent and the employment rate fell by 11 percentage points to 71.1 percent. While the labour force participation rate has been stable about 80–81 percent since then, employment and unemployment began to recover in 1997, and in 2002 the unemployment rate had almost halved and the employment rate had increased to 75 percent.

During the period 2000–2005, when the workers under study lost their jobs, the employment rate varied between 73.7 percent in the 4th quarter of 2004 to 75.8 percent in the 3rd quarter of 2001. The unemployment rate increased from 5.7 percent in the second quarter of 2001 to 7.9 percent in the 2nd quarter of 2005. A recovery period during 2006 and 2007 was then followed by the financial crisis in 2008. Then the unemployment rate once again started to increase and in the 1st quarter of 2010 it peaked at 9.0 percent while employment fell back to 72.8 percent. Hence, we can conclude that the labour market has seen some dramatic changes during the period that we have examined in this paper.

2.3 The Swedish social insurance system

In a modern welfare state such as the Swedish one, the social security system plays an important and often complex role after a job loss.^{6,7} We, therefore, provide a short description of the parts of the Swedish social security system, most relevant for the study group. The social security system in Sweden aims at providing universal financial security and its structure is potentially of significant importance both for the real economic losses for workers experiencing job loss and for people with disabilities in general. The social security system offers four income sources of particular interest for those of working ages: unemployment insurance (UI),⁸ sickness and rehabilitation insurance (SI), disability insurance (DI), and means-tested social assistance (SA).

⁶In addition to the social security schemes discussed in this section, there are a number of supplementary schemes for unemployed workers (see Sjögren Lindquist and Wadensjö, 2006). For example, the trade union organizations provide both collective and individual unemployment insurance compensating for forgone income above the ceiling in the unemployment insurance scheme. A majority of all workers are covered by these collective agreements and similar insurance schemes also exist in the case of sickness and disability. None of the supplementary schemes will be explicitly included in the following analysis due to the difficulty to identify such payments in the data.

⁷See Bergmark and Palme (2003) for a more thorough description of the development and details of the Swedish social security system.

⁸Unemployment insurance is actually not a part of the social insurance system in Sweden but comes under labour market policy.

UI is, of course, the key public transfer for job losers. It will not only reduce income losses during periods of unemployment, but it may also reduce the longer term impact of job loss by allowing for extended job search resulting in better-quality matches. Payment of UI is conditional on registration with the PES and the recipient must be available for work and actively seek for a job. Entitlement is also associated with a "membership condition" and a "work condition".⁹ ¹⁰ ¹¹ During the time period covered here the UI system changed several times. Up to 2006, the benefit level varied between 80 and 90 percent of previous earnings up to a ceiling, but from 2007 the replacement rate was made dependent on the unemployment duration, starting at 80 percent and then stepwise decreasing to 65 percent.

Considering the massive literature showing an association between unemployment and ill-health,¹² SI and DI may also be important sources of income amongst the job losers and especially for those being disabled.¹³ SI is payable in cases of temporary illness that reduces work capacity. However, the two first weeks of sick-leave is paid by the employer. Just like UI, it replaces a share of lost earnings up to a ceiling and for most of the period the replacement ratio was the same as for UI, whereas the ceiling consistently has been higher.

In case of a more permanently reduced work capacity, by at least 25 percent, a person could be eligible for DI.¹⁴ DI is granted in quarters based on work capacity. The income ceiling for DI has been the same as for SI, but the replacement rate has been lower.

Finally, means-tested SA is the ultimate safety net for those otherwise unable to make a living. SA is means-tested on a household basis and is supposed to guarantee a "reasonable standard of living". To be entitled to SA, one should be unable to make a living on not only work, UI and other benefits, but also on assets. One might expect that job losers

⁹The condition requires having been a member of an unemployment insurance fund for at least 12 months.

¹⁰According to the work condition a person needed to have worked at least 75 days distributed over a 4-month period – later this was changed to at least 6 months of at least 80 hours of work or, alternatively, 480 hours during a 6-month period and then no less than 50 hours each month – during the last 12 months prior to registration with the PES.

¹¹Those who did not fulfil the membership condition could could be granted the flat (lower) rate unemployment assistance instead.

 $^{^{12}}$ For a review, see Catalano et al. (2011).

¹³See Rege et al. (2009) and Bratsberg et al. (2013) on the effects of job loss on disability retirement.

¹⁴Until 1997 persons aged at least 60 years could also be granted disability insurance for a combination of health and labour market reasons. Thereafter, only medical reasons for the reduced working capacity should be considered.

with disabilities also to a larger extent rely on means-tested SA, as it can be viewed as an indicator of officially recognized economic hardship (Stenberg, 1998) and a growing literature has established that disability and poverty are closely linked (Palmer, 2011). Not only can poverty cause disability, but for several reasons people with disabilities are more likely to become poor (Elwan, 1999). Glendinning and Baldwin (1988) explain the latter mainly by lower earnings capacity, expenses attributable to the disability, and that their need for assistance and caring may reduce the labour supply of other household members.

3 Data and method

3.1 The data sources

Three different data sources were merged to create the data set. First, to identify those who suffered a job loss, each worker's main employer in the month of November each year was identified from the register-based labour market statistics (RAMS). Second, the PES' administrative register on job seekers (i.e., Händel) was used mainly to obtain a measure of disability. Finally, the various outcome measures and background characteristics were drawn from Statistics Sweden's longitudinal databases (i.e., LOUISE and LISA).

3.2 The measure of disability

The disability measure that we used is the PES' classification of occupational disability. As described in Section 2.1, this measure serves as a eligibility criteria for additional support to those who have a reduced work capacity due to a physical, mental, cognitive, or socio-medical disability, and therefore have or are expected to get difficulties to get or keep a regular employment. The initiative for coding a job seeker as occupationally disabled is taken by the responsible caseworker. In some cases the disability is obvious (e.g., if the job seeker uses a wheelchair), in other cases the impairment might be much more subtle and perhaps not even recognized by the job seeker him-/herself (e.g., some specific learning disabilities and mental disabilities). In such cases it might take some time before the caseworker suspects that the job seeker has a disability and that an investigation by the PES' own social consultants is necessary to confirm the impairment and establish

how it affects the conditions for work.¹⁵ In the latter case it is, obviously, necessary that the job seeker remains unemployed sufficiently long for the disability to be coded.

Figure 2: The cumulative distribution function of time from registration with the PES until receiving a disability code conditional on being classified as occupationally disabled at any time during the registration period



In *Figure 2*, the cumulative distribution function of time until receiving a disability code (conditional on being classified as occupationally disabled at any time during the registration period) is plotted. A quarter of those being classified as occupationally disabled at any time during their registration spell actually received the disability code at the time of registration. Another quarter had received the code within 96 days. For a considerable fraction, however, it took rather long before they eventually were classified as occupationally disabled and the mean elapsed time was as long as 259 days.

In the main analysis we defined disability as being classified as occupationally disabled at any time during the registration period following job loss. However, in Section 4.4 we discuss the implications of this choice and also present the results from a sensitivity analysis.

3.3 The measure of involuntary job loss

Our measure of involuntary job loss was constructed in two steps. First, we identified all job separations. A job separation was defined to have occurred if an employee in Novem-

¹⁵In most cases a medical report or a report from another specialist (e.g., a psychologist or speech therapist) describing the extent of impairment and its effect on work capacity is required and the job seeker also has to approve the coding. Although the job seeker has the right to refuse being coded as occupationally disabled, this seems to rarely happen (Garsten and Jacobsson, 2014).

ber year t - 1 either had no employer at all or a new main employer in November year t.¹⁶ This definition, obviously, includes also voluntary transitions where the employee left the old job for a new one. Then, to rule out these voluntary transitions we also required that the job loser had registered as a job seeker with the PES during the same period. This restriction was also necessary to obtain a measure of disability.

3.4 The sample

Our sample initially comprised all who lost a job (according to the definition in Section 3.3) during November 1999 to October 2005.¹⁷ Two sample restrictions were imposed: (1) to ensure that all were of working ages during the whole observation period (i.e., from seven years prior to five years following job loss) the sample was restricted to those of ages 25–59 years in the year of job loss; and (2) to ensure that the lost job was a regular un-subsidized job it was also required that the job loser had not been registered with the PES during the previous year (i.e., November–October).¹⁸

| | Year of job loss | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|--------------|------------------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--------|------|--|--|--|
| Disability | 200 | 0 | 2001 | | 200 | 2 | 200 | 3 | 200 | 4 | 2005 | | | | |
| coding | N | % | N | % | N | % | N | % | N | % | N | % | | | |
| Non-disabled | 59,221 | 94.9 | 62,007 | 94.7 | 80,112 | 95.0 | 81,604 | 94.6 | 81,528 | 93.7 | 74,369 | 93.0 | | | |
| Disabled | 3,172 | 5.1 | 3,452 | 5.3 | 4,214 | 5.0 | 4,696 | 5.4 | 5,523 | 6.3 | 5,606 | 7.0 | | | |
| Code 11 | 105 | 3.3 | 137 | 4.0 | 144 | 3.4 | 155 | 3.3 | 160 | 2.9 | 177 | 3.2 | | | |
| Code 20 | 127 | 4.0 | 161 | 4.7 | 200 | 4.7 | 170 | 3.6 | 219 | 4.0 | 177 | 3.2 | | | |
| Code 30 | 45 | 1.4 | 73 | 2.1 | 65 | 1.5 | 75 | 1.6 | 66 | 1.2 | 82 | 1.5 | | | |
| Code 40 | 1,677 | 52.9 | 1,736 | 50.3 | 2,133 | 50.6 | 2,360 | 50.3 | 2,927 | 53.0 | 2,878 | 51.3 | | | |
| Code 51 | 545 | 17.2 | 487 | 14.1 | 589 | 14.0 | 636 | 13.5 | 651 | 11.8 | 626 | 11.2 | | | |
| Code 61 | 270 | 8.5 | 330 | 9.6 | 451 | 10.7 | 690 | 14.7 | 797 | 14.4 | 977 | 17.4 | | | |
| Code 71 | 87 | 2.7 | 88 | 2.5 | 123 | 2.9 | 80 | 1.7 | 96 | 1.7 | 113 | 2.0 | | | |
| Code 81 | 187 | 5.9 | 201 | 5.8 | 216 | 5.1 | 208 | 4.4 | 250 | 4.5 | 240 | 4.3 | | | |
| Code 91 | 70 | 2.2 | 136 | 3.9 | 156 | 3.7 | 159 | 3.4 | 153 | 2.8 | 157 | 2.8 | | | |
| Code 92 | 50 | 1.6 | 90 | 2.6 | 122 | 2.9 | 131 | 2.8 | 167 | 3.0 | 138 | 2.5 | | | |
| Code 93 | 9 | 0.3 | 13 | 0.4 | 15 | 0.4 | 32 | 0.7 | 37 | 0.7 | 41 | 0.7 | | | |

Table 1: The number of job losers with and without disabilities (and by type of disability) by year of job loss

¹⁶Main employer is defined as the employer of November from which the worker received the largest annual earnings.

¹⁷Those who lost a job in November or December in one year were assigned the following year as the year of job loss.

¹⁸Having a subsidized employment implies also being registered with the PES.

From *Table 1* we can see that each year 62–87 thousand workers, meeting the sample restrictions, involuntary lost their jobs. About 5–7 percent of them were classified as occupationally disabled. Hence, the total sample contained 27 thousand job losers with disabilities and 439 thousand job losers without disabilities. The outstandingly most common reason for receiving a disability code was that the job seeker had a motor handicap (code 40). About 51 percent of those that were classified as disabled had such a code. Other somatically related disabilities (code 51) and mental disability (code 61) were the second and third most common disability codes and accounted for 13.3 and 13.2 percent, respectively.

3.5 Background characteristics

From the registers we have drawn background information on a number of socio-demographic variables: age (seven 5-year categories), sex, marital status (i.e., never-married, married, divorced, widow/-er), children of ages 0–6 and 7–17 years, attained education (unknown education, compulsory schooling, upper secondary schooling, and tertiary education), and type of residential municipality (10 categories).¹⁹ Descriptive statistics by disability classification are presented in *Table 2*.

It is evident that the job losers with disabilities on average were older. Only 7 percent of those with disabilities were in ages 24–29 years, compared to 23 percent among those without disabilities. Instead, more than twice as large share of those with disabilities were in ages 50–59 years (i.e., 35.1 percent compared to 17.0 percent). The differences in age were also reflected in marital status: half of the job losers without disabilities were never married, compared to 38 percent of those with disabilities, and the share of job losers with disabilities who were divorced was 7 percentage points larger than among those without disabilities (i.e., 19 and 12 percent, respectively. Regarding the level of attained education it is notable that the share with a tertiary education among the job losers with disabilities was less than half of that among those without disabilities (i.e., 13 percent compared to 33 percent), while the share with no more than compulsory schooling was twice as large (i.e., 28 percent compared to 14 percent). The most notable difference with

¹⁹The types of municipalities were based on The Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions' (SALAR) classification of Swedish municipalities.

respect to the type of residential municipality was that while 21 percent of the job losers without disabilities resided in metropolitan municipalities only 13 percent of those with disabilities did so.

| Background characteristics | Non-disabled | Disabled |
|---|--------------|----------|
| Sex | | |
| Male | 52.8% | 52.3% |
| Female | 47.2% | 47.7% |
| Age | | |
| 25–29 years | 22.6% | 7.2% |
| 30–34 years | 19.7% | 11.1% |
| 35–39 years | 17.1% | 14.6% |
| 40–44 years | 13.2% | 15.9% |
| 45–49 years | 10.4% | 16.0% |
| 50–54 years | 8.9% | 17.4% |
| 55–59 years | 8.1% | 17.7% |
| Nativity | | |
| Native born | 85.2% | 82.5% |
| Foreign born | 14.8% | 17.5% |
| Marital status | | |
| Never-married | 49.7% | 38.4% |
| Married | 37.7% | 41.3% |
| Divorced | 12.1% | 19.1% |
| Widow/-er | 0.6% | 1.2% |
| Children | | |
| Children aged 0–6 years | 23.6% | 13.3% |
| Children aged 7–17 years | 28.3% | 30.9% |
| Education | | |
| Unknown education | 0.2% | 0.1% |
| Compulsory schooling | 14.1% | 27.9% |
| Upper secondary schooling | 52.9% | 59.3% |
| Tertiary education | 32.8% | 12.7% |
| Type of residential municipality | | |
| Metropolitan municipalities | 21.3% | 13.3% |
| Suburban municipalities | 16.3% | 12.8% |
| Large cities | 26.6% | 25.6% |
| Commuter municipalities | 6.1% | 7.5% |
| Sparsely populated municipalities | 3.2% | 5.5% |
| Manufacturing municipalities | 5.3% | 7.5% |
| Other municipalities, $>25,000$ inhabitants | 12.4% | 15.4% |
| Other municipalities, 12,500–25,000 inhabitants | 6.3% | 8.7% |
| Other municipalities, $< 12,500$ inhabitants | 2.6% | 3.7% |

Table 2: Descriptive statistics for job losers with and without disabilities

3.6 The income measures – descriptive results

The income measure includes both earnings and public transfers, i.e., unemployment insurance (UI), sickness insurance (SI), disability insurance (DI), and means-tested social assistance (SA); all deflated to 2010 values by the consumer price index. The unadjusted trajectories of these components of the income measure, and the annual shares receiving a positive amount of each respective component, from seven years before to five years after job loss, are depicted in *Figure 3* for both job losers with and without disabilities.

Earnings – In the first year of our observation period, i.e., seven years prior to job loss, there were only minor differences between those with and without disabilities with respect to both the share having non non-zero earnings and the actual amount of earnings. While the gap in the shares having non-zero earnings was closing even more up to the year preceding job loss, mean annual earnings exhibited a different pattern. The gap in earnings increased in each pre-job loss year. At first because of a lower earnings growth among those with disabilities, but two years prior to job loss their earnings actually began to decline. Hence, already in the year preceding job loss, an earnings gap of more than SEK 80,000 (EUR 9,000) had emerged.

In the year of job loss there was a small drop in the shares having non-zero earnings corresponding to 8.2 and 2.7 percentage points among those with and without disabilities, respectively, while there was a larger drop, in the following year, of 24.5 and 11.2 percentage points. During the same two years mean earnings dropped by SEK 78,800 (EUR 8,600) and SEK 71,600 (EUR 7,800) among the two groups of job losers and widened the gap to SEK 90,600 (EUR 9,900).

In the rest of the observation period, there was only a weak recovery of the shares with non-zero earnings, leaving a gap of 15.8 percentage points in favour of the job losers without disabilities. The amount of earnings recovered among both those with and without disabilities, but the gap between the two groups remained substantial and even increased slightly to SEK 99,300 (EUR 10,800).

Unemployment insurance – Both the shares of UI receivers and the received amounts were diminishing almost to zero during the pre-job loss period, and there were only minor differences between those with and without disabilities. As expected, there was a sharp increase in the year of job loss. The shares of job losers with and without disabilities receiving any UI reached 66.4 and 61.7 percent, respectively, and the corresponding amounts were SEK 41,200 (EUR 4,500) and SEK 35,800 (EUR 3,900).

Figure 3: The fractions receiving positive amounts of earnings, UI, SI, DI, and means-tested SA (left column), respectively, and the average received amount of earnings, UI, SI, DI and means-tested SA, respectively, in thousand SEK (right column), for the job losers with and without disabilities from 7 years before to 5 years after job loss



In the following year, the gaps between the two groups increased to 9.5 percentage points and SEK 23,600 (EUR 2,600).

During the rest of the observation period the take-up of UI diminished in each year, but the gaps remained: Five years following job loss 8.8 percentage points more of the job losers with disabilities relied on UI and received on average SEK 8,400 (EUR 900) more. As the incidence of UI recipiency during these years differed less this suggest that more among those with, than among those without, disabilities also had longer spells of unemployment.

Sickness and rehabilitation insurance – As described in Section 2.3, the employer pays for the two first weeks of sick-leave, and these payments cannot be distinguished from earnings in the administrative registers. Hence, what is measured here is incidence of longer periods of sickness or rehabilitation. Regarding take-up of SI the two groups of job losers differed markedly during the whole study period. Seven years prior to job loss, the share of job losers without disabilities who received SI was 10.2 percent and the average amount was SEK 7,200, while the share was more than twice as large among those with disabilities and the received amount more than three times as large. Although the share increased among the job losers without disabilities to a high of 20.5 percent in the year of job loss, the corresponding share among those with disabilities was three times as large. The differences in received amounts were even larger: in the year preceding job loss those with disabilities received on average SEK 58,700 (EUR 6,400) compared to SEK 8,300 (EUR 900) among those without disabilities. During the post-job loss period, however, the shares had almost returned to their initial levels: Five years after job loss the shares receiving SI were 22.1 and 13.3 percent among job losers with and without disabilities, respectively. The received amounts were about twice as large as the initial amounts.

Hence, it seems that much of the diverging earnings between job losers with and without disabilities during the period preceding job loss can be explained by the former group to a larger extent being off work because of sickness or rehabilitation. However, it does not seem to explain the remaining gap in earnings during the period following job loss.

Disability insurance – As with SI one would expect a larger share of job seekers with disabilities receiving DI. As described in Section 2.3, DI can be granted in quarters. Hence, the shares of job seekers receiving any DI depicted in *Figure 3* cannot necessarily be interpreted as the share who have left the labour market altogether due to permanently reduced work capacity.

For the job losers without disabilities the shares (and the average received amounts) were practically zero during the whole pre-job loss period. However, with the event of job loss the share began to slowly increase and in the end of the observation period the share of job losers without disabilities receiving any DI was 4.0 percent and the average received amount SEK 5,100 (EUR 550). Among the job losers with disabilities 3.2 percent received DI seven years prior to job loss, and the corresponding amount was SEK 2,000 (EUR 210). In the year preceding job loss the share had increased to 9.5 percent and the average received amount to SEK 5,800 (EUR 630). During the post-job loss period there was a dramatic increase in both the share receiving any DI and the received amount. Five years following job loss the share of DI receivers had increased by 25.3 percentage points to 34.8 percent and there had been a sixfold increase in the received amount.

Hence, while more job losers with disabilities being on long-term sickness absence or in rehabilitation seems to have been the explanation for the emerging pre-job loss gap in earnings between the job losers with and without disabilities, the remaining gap following job loss instead seems to be explained by a much larger share of job losers with disabilities being viewed as having permanently reduced work capacity and therefore granted DI.

Means-tested social assistance – Seven years prior to job loss 16.4 and 11.9 percent of the job losers with and without disabilities, respectively, received SA (the average received amounts were SEK 3,100 (EUR 340) and SEK 2,200 (EUR 240)). As more and more of them became employed, fewer had to rely on such assistance and in the year preceding the job loss the shares were down at 5.9 and 2.6 percent and the average received amounts at SEK 630 (EUR 68) and SEK 280 (EUR 31). The job losses temporarily put halt to this downward trend and the share increased by 2-3 percentage points and the received amount doubled for both groups. During the years following job loss the shares once again diminished, while the average received amounts increased slightly. Hence, the

initial difference between the two groups of job seekers remained, more or less, constant throughout the full observation period.

3.7 Estimation strategy

The aim of this paper is to measure the differential economic impact of job loss if being disabled, compared to if not being disabled. A common strategy, both in the literature on the effects of job displacement (e.g., Jacobson et al., 1993; Stevens, 1997; Couch and Placzek, 2010) and of the onset of disability (e.g., Charles, 2003; Mok et al., 2008), is to estimate a fixed effects model including both lagged and leaded indicators of incidence of displacement or disability onset. This method allows the effect of displacement/disability both to set in prior to the actual event and to be long lasting. However, we have to assume that the average outcomes for the study and control group would have followed parallel paths in absence of displacement/disability. This assumption of parallel trends may not be plausible if there are background characteristics associated with the dynamics of the outcomes that differ between those who do and do not experience the event of interest. However, as suggested in von Wachter (2009), in the case of displacement, conditioning on a richer set of characteristics within, for example, a matching framework may increases the plausibility of the assumption of parallel dynamics in the outcome(s) in the absence of displacement.

Here, we have applied the fixed effect estimator to a matched sample. We performed one-to-one exact covariate matching with replacement. The matching covariates were year of job loss and all the background variables presented in Section 3.5.²⁰ The job losers were followed during the years s - 7 to s + 5, where *s* is the year of job loss, and using the matched sample a fixed effect model was estimated: $y_{i,t} = \alpha_i + x_{it}\beta + \sum_{k=-6}^{5} \gamma_t I(t = s + k) + \sum_{k=-5}^{5} \delta^{s+k} D_i S_{i,t}^{s+k} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$, where $y_{i,t}$ is the particular outcome of interest for job loser *i* in year *t* and $X_{i,t}$ is a vector of observed time-variant characteristics (i.e., a quartic in age). D_i is a time-invariant indicator of disability and the $S_{i,t}^{s+k}$'s are a set of indicators for the number of years relative to job loss in year *s*, allowing us to estimate, for each year

²⁰In applied work propensity score matching is often preferred over exact covariate matching because of the high dimensionality problem causing too few matches to be found. However, since all our variables are discrete (age is obviously a continuous variable, but is here divided into five-year categories) this does not cause a major problem and we found matches to 97.1 percent of the job losers with disabilities.

k following job loss, the differential effect δ^{s+k} of job loss if being disabled. $I(\cdot)$ is an indicator function of time relative to job loss, the parameter α_i is an individual-specific fixed effect, and $\varepsilon_{i,t}$ is the error term.²¹

4 Results

In Section 3.6, we saw that seven years prior to job loss there were no (unadjusted) differences in earnings between the job losers with and those without disabilities. The earnings then began to diverge, not coinciding with job loss, however, but already several years earlier. The job loss instead put halt to the diverging earnings between those with and those without disabilities and the gap then remained approximately constant during the post-job loss period. Moreover, the diverging earnings during the pre-job loss period seem to have been a consequence of more and more job losers with disabilities being off work because of sickness or rehabilitation, while the transfer of many of them to DI during the post-job loss period seem to explain the remaining gap in earnings during that period.

In this section, we first present the results from a more formal examination of how the earnings differential, but also the income differential (i.e., earnings and each of the insurances discussed in Section 3.6), evolved around the time of job loss. This is followed by an analysis of how these differential effects varied by type of disability. The next section provides an analysis of the sensitivity to our definition of disability. A discussion of the limitations of the empirical analysis concludes.

4.1 The differential impact of job loss on earnings and income

This section present the estimates of the temporal differential effect of job loss on earnings and income if being disabled from applying the fixed effects model to the matched sample. The only variable included in $X_{i,t}$ was a quartic in age. The estimates of the δ^{s+k} 's, with 95 percent confidence intervals, for k from -5 to 5 in the earnings (income) equation are plotted in the left (right) part of *Figure 4* (in years -7 and -6 the differentials are by assumption equal to zero and therefore plotted without confidence intervals).

Figure 4 ascertains what was previously found in Section 3.6. Job loss was asso-

²¹Including also an individual-specific time trend did not substantially alter any estimates.

ciated with declining earnings among the job losers with disabilities, relative to those without, already four years prior to the actual job loss. In the year preceding job loss the earnings gap had increased to SEK 56,400 (EUR 6,100). There was a slight recovery of SEK 11,500 (EUR 1,250) in the year of job loss. During the rest of the observation period the earnings differential only varied between SEK 46,000 (EUR 4,980) and SEK 49,300 (EUR 5,340).

Figure 4: The estimated mean differential earnings and income effects of job loss if being disabled from 7 years before to 5 years after job loss. The effects in year -6 and -7 are zero by assumption and the dashed lines represent 95 percent confidence intervals



Given the much higher take-up of SI among job losers with disabilities during the pre-job loss period and of DI during the post-job loss period we would expect a considerably smaller income, than earnings, differential. This is also evident from *Figure 4*. Although the income differential increased linearly over time during the pre-job loss period, the gap in the year preceding job loss was less than one fourth of the earnings differential (i.e., SEK 13,400 (EUR 1,450)). In the year of job loss the gap was closing even more: SEK 4,500 (EUR 490) compared to a gap of SEK 44,800 (EUR 4,850) in earnings. The job losses seem to have permanently shifted the income differential upward by about SEK 13,000 (EUR 1,410), since thereafter the income differential again increased linearly by about the same annual amount. Five years after job loss the income differential had increased to SEK 18,000 (EUR 1,950) in favour of those without disabilities.

Hence, if we compare the income and earnings differentials, social insurances seem to have replaced between 61 and 90 percent of the differences in earnings, between those with and those without disabilities, that arose in association with the job loss.

4.2 Heterogeneity by type of disability

Hitherto, we have treated occupational disability as dichotomous and homogeneous. However, disability – even the PES' definition of occupational disability – contains diverse impairments and a continuous scale of functional limitation. Although we do not have data on severity of impairment or the degree of reduced work capacity, we do have information on the type of disability. Each category obviously contains a broad spectrum of severity of impairment and associated work capacity. However, the categories, per se, actually contain some limited information of the chronicity and onset of disability. For example, learning disability and (congenital) deafness are both congenital and chronic, while mental disabilities have a probable onset later in life and are not necessarily chronic.

In this section, we present the results from repeating the earnings and income estimations, but separately for each type of disability. The estimated δ_{s+k} 's from the earnings and income estimations are presented in Table 3 and Table 4, respectively. The estimates in *Table 3* reveal that the earnings differential around the time of job loss varied substantially with type of disability. During the pre-job loss period all disabilities, except for dyslexia or specific learning difficulties (code 92), exhibited an increasing earnings differential over time. In the year preceding job loss there was a difference of SEK 97,100 (EUR 10,510) between the two extremes: the estimated earnings differential in this year was SEK 106,400 (EUR 11,520) for those with an acquired brain injury (code 93) and only SEK 9,300 (EUR 1,010) for those with dyslexia or specific learning difficulties (code 92). Two other disability groups also exhibited particularly large and increasing earnings differentials: For those with mental disability (code 61) and motor handicap (code 40) the estimated earnings differentials in the year preceding job loss were SEK 74,000 (EUR 8,010) and SEK 65,500 (EUR 7,090) respectively. What is common for these disabilities exhibiting particularly large earnings differentials in the pre-job loss period is that none of them are (necessarily) congenital but rather likely to have an onset later in life. Hence, the estimates can probably not be interpreted as the impact of job loss if being disabled compared to not being disabled, but instead as a combined effect of the differential effect of job loss and the effect of disability onset.

| | | | 13.0) | (0.21 | L3.0) | 15.3) | 15.2) | 15.4) | 14.6) | (4.1) | 14.7) | 14.7) | [4.4] | | | | 10.7) | 10.1) | 11.3) | 13.1) | 11.7) | 12.8) | l1.3) | 11.3) | 12.2) | 11.9) | 11.8) | |
|------------------------------|------------------------------|------|---|---|---------------------|-----------|---------------|--------------|---|----------|-----------|--|--------|--|------------------|------|------------|---------|---------|--------------------|--------|--------------|-----------|------------|------------|---------|--------|------------------|
| | | 93 | 5.8 | | 0.4 | 8.2 | 6.4 (] | 3.8 | 4.5 (] | 5.2 (] | 4.6 (] | 2.5 (] | 3.7 (] | | | | 2.6 (] | 0.0 | 0.8 | 7.1 (] | 0.0 | 2.5 | 1.6 (] | 4.4 | 6.4 (] | 0.1 | 8.2 (] | |
| / type of disability | | | | Ϋ́ Ϋ́ | - | (| -10 | 9- | 9 (| 2- | 2- | ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | 2- | y | | | 5) | 5) -2 | 5) -2 | 3) | 6) -4 | 5) -1 | 4) -1 | 7) -2 | 8) -2 | 2) -3 | 7) -1 | |
| | | | (5.4 7 | 0 1 1 | 4.C) | (5.1 | (5.4 | (5.7 | (5.9 | (6.0 | (5.9 | (6.2 | (0.6 | sabilit | | | 5 (4. | 9 (4. | 7 (4. | 0 (4. | 1 (4. | 1 (4. | 2 (4. | 7 (4. | 5 (4. | 3 (5. | 3 (5. | |
| | | 92 | -1.7 | 0.2 0 - | | -0.5 | -9.3 | -12.4 | -44.2 | -47.2 | -42.3 | -30.1 | -33.0 | of dis | | | -0 | ې. | φ̈́ | -10. | -10. | i | 4. | -13. | -21. | -14. | -25. | |
| | | | (5.0) | (4.9) | (4.8) | (4.8) | (5.1) | (5.2) | (5.5) | (5.3) | (5.4) | (6.1) | (5.9) | type | | | (4.2) | (4.1) | (4.0) | (3.9) | (4.2) | (4.0) | (4.1) | (4.2) | (4.5) | (5.3) | (5.1) | |
| ngs, b | | 91 | 1.6 1 | с.1- - | -0.6- | -10.8 | -26.5 | -32.1 | -39.8 | -38.0 | -33.4 | -29.5 | -29.7 | ıе, by | | | 0.0 | -3.0 | -7.9 | -7.9 | -10.8 | -2.6 | -6.1 | -16.5 | -13.2 | -12.8 | -15.5 | |
| earnir | | | 4.2) | 4.7) | 4.2) | 4.1) - | 4.2) - | 4.6) - | 4.8) - | 4.7) | 4.7) | 4.9) - | 5.2) - | incon | | 8 | (3.6) | (3.7) | (3.6) | (3.5) | (3.6) | (3.9) | (3.8) | (3.9) | (4.1) | (4.3) | (4.6) | |
| no ss | | 81 | 0.1 (| - 0.0 0.0 |) 20.20 20.20 | -9.8 | 20.1 (| 25.8 (| 22.9 (| 24.7 (| 25.4 (| 22.4 (| 25.1 (| ss on | | 90 | -1.4 | -7.6 | -8.5 | .10.1 | .17.1 | -25.0 | .10.5 | .13.1 | -15.8 | .17.6 | -22.3 | |
| job lo | | | 3) | | (I) | .1) | (1) | (1) | .2) | (1) | .1) | .1) | .5) -2 | job lc | | 2 | 4.2) | 4.8) | 4.1) | 4.1) - | 4.2) - | 4.8) - | 4.3) - | 4.7) - | 4.9) - | 5.0) - | 5.3) - | |
| theses) of | Disability code ^a | 71 | 5.7 (5 7.7 | | 5) C.O | 9.3 (5 | 0.2 (5 | 3.3 (6 | 0.8 (6 | 5 (6 | L.3 (6 | 7.3 (6 |).1 (6 | ss) of | | 6 | 3.2 (| 9.3 (| 0.9 | 3.8 | 7.8 (| 8.3 | 0.5 (| 1.7 (| 0.9 | 3.0 (| 5.9 (| |
| | | | | |) -1(| 5) -19 | 7) -2(| 3) 13 | 3) -12 | 3) -21 | 3) -2] | 9) -27 |) -29 | thes€ | ode ^a | 91 | 1) - | 1) | 1) -1 | 1) -1 | 1) -1 | 3) | (1) | 2) | 3) | 4) | - (9 | |
| parei | | 61 | (5) | | 2.0 | 5 (2.6 | (2.1 | 3.(2.8 | 5.0 | (5.8 | t (2.8 | 5 | 7 (3.(| 2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 (2 | 8 (2 | 2 (2 | 8 | 0 (2 | 4 (2. | | | | | | | | | |
| /ithin | | | | י ק | -25.3 | -46.(| -74.(| -59.3 | -65.9 | -68. | -68.4 | -66.2 | -64.7 | /ithin | Disab | | Ļ. | o' ' | ې. ۲ | -6- | -13. | ÷ | φ | -17. | -23. | -27. | -29. | |
| rors w | | 51 | (2.4) | (c.2) | (2.4) | (2.4) | (2.5) | (2.6) | (2.6) | (2.6) | (2.6) | (2.7) | (2.8) | rors w | | 71 | (2.0) | (2.0) | (1.9) | (1.9) | (2.0) | (2.1) | (1.9) | (2.0) | (2.1) | (2.2) | (2.3) | |
| ard eri | | | -5.6 | - 0.0 - 0.0 | -16.9 | -31.8 | -48.3 | -41.2 | -41.2 -46.4 -46.9 -50.0 -50.7 | -51.2 | ard eri | | 1 | -5.3 | -6.2 | -6.7 | -9.5 | -11.6 | -3.6 | -6.9 | -10.7 | -16.1 | -18.9 | -22.0 | | | | |
| standa | | | 1.2) | (v) | 1.2) | 1.5) | 1.3) | 1.3) | 1.3) | 1.4) | 1.3) | 1.4) | 1.4) | standa | | 9 | (1.0) | (1.0) | (1.0) | (1.3) | (1.0) | (1.0) | (1.0) | (1.1) | (1.1) | (1.1) | (1.2) | odes |
| with 9 | | 40 | -5.7 (|) | 23.1 (| 41.8 (| <u>55.5</u> (| 51.4 (| 48.8 | 50.3 (| 48.7 (| 47.1 (| 45.1 (| with s | | 51 | -4.3 | -6.1 | -7.6 | 11.1 | 13.0 | -5.0 | -6.2 | 11.5 | 13.7 | 15.3 | 15.6 | oility c |
| ffect (| | | .5) | (9) (2) (2) (2) (2) (3) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4 | ۳ م ب ف اف | (- - | r (2:) | . <u>1</u> . | r (0: | (9: | r- (6') | ffect (| | | 5.3) | 5.7) | (.1) | 7.1) - | 3.4) - | (8.2 | (6.7 | - (2.2 | - (8.7 | 3.3) - | 3.6) - | e disat | | |
| tial ef | | 30 | 7) <u>6</u> . | 2. Q | 8) 0.0 | .3 (8 | .5 (9 | .2 (9 | .4 (9 | .5 (9 | .3 (9 | .5 (9 | .6 (9 | tial ef | | 40 | .4 (6 | 7.3 (6 | 3.4 (7 | 1.8 .1 | 3) 7.7 | <u>-</u>).7 | t.2 (7 | [.] 8.1 | 1.5 (-] | 5.4 (8 | 3.6 (8 | of the |
| 3: The estimated differentia | | | 2- (| | 6- |) -25 | -44 | -12 | -35 |) -34 | -33 |) -26 |) -36 | feren | | | <u>-</u> - | | φ | i) -1 ² | .) -17 | .) 10 | ۲ (| | ۲ (; | ۹ ب | .13 | iption |
| | | | (4.5 | 0.0) | 0.6) | (4.5 | (4.8 | (5.1 | (5.3 | (5.1 | (5.1 | (5.2 | (5.4 | ed dif | | 30 | (3.7 | (4.3 | (4.3 | (3.8 | (4.1 | (4.1 | (4.1 | (4.1 | (4:2 | (4.4 | (4.7 | descri |
| | | 20 | -7.5 -9.2 -9.2 -9.2 -24.5 -31.4 -36.1 -41.6 -39.4 -43.1 -40.0 | | | | | | 0 | -5.0 | -6.1 | -11.4 | -13.0 | -16.4 | -2.9 | -2.7 | -8.9 | -10.9 | -14.3 | -14.0 | for a | | | | | | | |
| | | | (5.1) | (4.9) | (0.3) | (5.1) | (5.5) | (2.6) | (5.6) | (5.5) | (5.6) | (2.7) | (0.0) | ne est | | 2 | (4.0) | (3.9) | (4.0) | (4.1) | (4.5) | (4.3) | (4.1) | (4.1) | (4.4) | (4.5) | (4.9) | n 2.1 |
| | | 11 | -8.6 | 0.01 | 23.4 | 33.1 | 44.1 | 37.2 | 39.1 | 44.3 | 41.1 | 37.7 | 37.2 | 4 : T | | 11 | -3.5 | -8.7 | 13.6 | 16.0 | 12.3 | -0.5 | 5.2 | -0.1 | 2.5 | 4.5 | 3.5 | Sectic |
| Table | | Year | ۔ م | + (| τŗ. | -' ' | ī H | í 0 | í H | 1 1 | i M | 4 , | َ ک | Table | | Year | ц | 4- | י ج | -2 | ' | 0 | | 7 | m | 4 | 5 | ^a See |

The job loss not only seems to have put a halt on the widening earnings gap, but also temporarily closing the gap. For most disability groups the gap in the year following job loss seems to be permanent. The largest post-job loss earnings differentials are found for those with acquired brain injury (code 93) and with mental disabilities (code 61); five years after job loss there were large remaining earnings differentials corresponding to SEK 73,700 (EUR 7,980) and SEK 64,700 (EUR 7,010), respectively.

If we instead turn to the income estimates, most disability groups roughly exhibited the same pre-job loss patterns as shown in *Figure 3* for the composite disability group. During the pre-job loss period only those with an acquired brain injury (code 93) diverged and showed a markedly worsen income pattern.

In the year of job loss, the income differential diminished considerably for all categories but socio-medical disability (code 81). For those with such disabilities the income differential instead dropped even further to on average SEK 25,000 (EUR 2,710), while for most other disability groups it was not significantly different from zero.

During the post-job loss period the income differential increased again for most disability groups relative to the non-disabled. However, those with cardio, vascular, and/or lung diseases (code 11) or learning disability (code 71) showed a distinctly different pattern from the other disability groups as the income gap was not significantly different from zero. Those with acquired brain injury (code 93)or mental disabilities (code 61), on the other hand, not only exhibited the largest post-job loss earnings differentials, but also the largest income differentials

4.3 Sensitivity to the definition of disability

As could be seen in Section 3.2 there was a considerable variation in the elapsed time from registration with the PES to actually being classified as occupationally disabled. In cases when disability is not coded at the time of registration but later on it is, of course, necessary that the job seeker remains unemployed at least equally long. At the time of registration with the PES the job losers could be divided into four categories: (1) those without disabilities at the time of registration with the PES who never would have been coded as occupationally disabled regardless of how long they had remained unemployed; (2) those without disabilities at the time of registration with the PES who would have been coded as occupationally disabled had they remained unemployed sufficiently long;
(3) those with disabilities at the time of registration with the PES who would always have been coded as occupationally disabled; and (4) those with disabilities at the time of registration with the PES who would have been coded as occupationally disabled had they remained unemployed sufficiently long.

We would have liked to compare those in categories 3 and 4 to those in categories 1 and 2. However, the only category that can be identified with certainty is category 3. In the main analysis we compared those who received a disability code at any time during their registration period to those who did not. In terms of the four categories this means that we compared category 3 and the sub-samples of category 2 and 4 who were unemployed long enough to be classified as disabled to category 1 and the sub-samples of category 2 and 4 who were not unemployed long enough to be classified.

In this sensitivity analysis, we have redefined the groups of job losers with and without disabilities by imposing various time limits on the duration from registration to disability classification. The unconstrained case in the main analysis constitutes one extreme. The other extreme would be that disability had to be coded at the time of registration. In this latter case, category 3 is compared to categories 1, 2, and 4.

The results from the sensitivity analysis are depicted in *Figure 5*. We have re-estimated the differential effects on earnings and total income using seven time-windows classifying the job losers with and without disabilities (i.e., receiving a disability code at registration; within 1, 3, or 6 months; within 1 or 2 years; or at any time during the registration period). Once again we have plotted the estimated δ_{s+k} 's, but to avoid making the figures too cluttered, the confidence intervals are suppressed; instead the shaded area represents the area between the maximum 95% upper bounds and the minimum 95% lower bounds.

It is evident that the pre-job loss estimates are rather similar regardless of timewindow, although all time-windows produced larger earnings differentials than the window used in the main estimation (i.e., classification at any time during the registration period) and they also diverged more and more the closer to the job loss. During the post-job loss period, however, the estimates diverged dramatically and the larger the time-window the larger earnings differential. This we should expect, of course, as a longer time until receiving a disability code implies an equally long time without a job. Hence, we also observe the largest differences in estimates during the first one or two years following job loss, i.e., the years when the various time-windows mechanically changed also the time in unemployment for the most job losers.

Figure 5: The estimated mean differential earnings and income effects of job loss if being occupationally disabled, by various time spans for the duration until being classified as occupationally disabled, from 7 years before to 5 years after job loss. The effects in year -6 and -7 are zero by assumption



Turning to the estimates on total income, we observe a similar pattern. The estimates from using different time-windows exhibited no, or only small, pre-job loss differences. The post-job loss differentials were also more compressed than the earnings differentials. As much of the differences in the earnings estimates can be related to the mechanical increase in unemployment duration this is expected since such earnings losses, to a large extent, should have been replaced by UI.

This sensitivity analysis has shown that: 1) the post-job loss estimates, especially the earnings estimates, vary considerably depending on how the group of job losers with disabilities was defined, and 2) as most of the variation is apparent during the first couple of years following job loss it seems to be more of a consequence of the mechanically longer unemployment durations rather than anything else.

4.4 Limitations

The empirical analysis presented above is marred by several limitations. Most of them are related to our definition of disability. The only useful measure of disability available to us was the PES' classification of occupational disability upon registration as a job seeker. In Section 4.3 we found that how disability is defined with respect to the elapsed time from registration with the PES to actually being classified as occupationally disabled greatly affected the estimates. However, there are also some additional concerns:

We do not know the timing of disability onset. The two extremes would be that disability was either congenital or acquired with onset while registered with the PES. The model we estimated implicitly assumes the former extreme. This is certainly an unrealistic assumption. Diminishing earnings and increasing take-up of SI with start several years prior to job loss also suggest that for a non-ignorable fraction the onset of disability seems to have occurred during our observation period. Hence, our estimated differential effects of job loss are a combination of the differential effects of job loss and the effects of disability onset. Of course, our estimates still depict the differences in how earnings and income evolved surrounding the job loss depending on whether being classified as disabled or not by the PES.

The PES' measure is not an objective, but rather an administrative, measure of disability, and might contain measurement errors due to various incentive mechanisms. Although the classification of the various disabilities is dichotomous, i.e., either a job seeker gets a certain code or s/he does not, both "occupational disability" and "impairment that entail reduced work capacity" are floating concepts. Hence, the coding leaves some discretion to the particular caseworker. As discussed in Section 2.1, the PES also has various incentives to code job seekers as disabled depending on certain volume targets and goals, and the job seekers may have incentives both to accept and to refuse a disability classification.

The difficulties associated with defining and measuring disability are inherent to all labour research focusing on the particular group of persons with disabilities, nevertheless, these concerns have to be kept in mind when interpreting the findings. However, regardless of its problems the PES' measure of disability together with our longitudinal data will provide a good picture of the differences in how earnings and income evolved surrounding the job loss depending on whether being classified as disabled or not by the PES.

5 Discussion and conclusions

People with disabilities, both in Sweden and elsewhere, are consistently found to face considerable difficulties on the labour market. In this study we have investigated the differential impact of involuntary job loss, on earnings and income, if being disabled. Our main findings are that the earnings of job losers with and without disabilities began to diverge already several years prior to job loss. The diverging earnings were not driven by the job losers with disabilities being employed to lesser extent or unemployed to a larger extent than those without disabilities but by a much larger incidence of longer periods of absence due to sickness or rehabilitation. This might suggest that the estimates not only pick up the differential impact of job loss but also the impact of disability onset. Moreover, the job loss put a halt on the diverging earnings between those with and without disabilities. The seemingly permanent earnings differential following job loss seems to have been a consequence of much more of the job losers with disabilities not returning to employment but instead becoming disability retirees. Although the earnings differential experienced by the job losers with disabilities was considerable during the post-job loss period, a majority of the difference was replaced by public social insurances.

As job losers with disabilities are not a homogeneous group, we also repeated the earnings and income analysis distinguishing between different types of disabilities. This analysis revealed that the earnings differential around the time of job loss varied remarkably with type of disability. The categories likely to contain disabilities that, in most cases, are not congenital but rather have an onset later in life exhibited the largest prejob loss (and post-job loss) earnings differentials. This supports the previous conclusion that much of the pre-job loss earnings differential can be explained by the negative earnings effect of disability onset. The disability groups suffering the largest earnings losses did not necessarily suffer the largest income losses. Those exhibiting the largest income differentials could instead be categorized as those with mental or cognitive disabilities.

For various reasons there is a considerable variation in the elapsed time from registration with the PES to actually being classified as occupationally disabled. Whether constraining the sample of job losers with disabilities to those being classified as occupationally disabled at the time of registration or also include those being classified at some later point during the registration period dramatically affected the short- to medium-term estimates. This sheds some light on the difficulties associated with using administrative measures of disability in labour research and to the importance of being able to date the onset of disability.

To conclude, the findings suggest that for some groups of job losers with disabilities the onset of disability might have been the very reason for eventually losing the job. Moreover, although the objective of the coding of disability by the PES is to ascertain that the labour market policies explicitly targeting job seekers with disabilities, aiming at strengthening their position at the labour market and equalizing the opportunities between disabled and non-disabled job seekers, these efforts do not seem to have resulted in equal labour market outcomes for the job losers with and without disabilities. Large earnings differentials remained throughout the observation period, and a considerable fraction of the job losers with disabilities actually became disability retirees during the first few years following job loss.

References

- Angelov, N., and Eliason, M. (2014). 'Factors associated with occupational disability classification'. IFAU Working Paper 2014:25, IFAU, Uppsala.
- Bergmark, Å., and Palme, J. (2003). 'Welfare and the unemployment crisis: Sweden in the 1990s'. *International Journal of Social Welfare*, 12(2): 108–122.
- Bound, J. (1991). 'Self-Reported versus Objective Measures of Health in Retirement Models'. *Journal of Human Resources*, 26(1): 106–138.
- Bratsberg, B., Fevang, E., and Røed, K. (2013). 'Job loss and disability insurance'. *Labour Economics*, 24, 137–150.
- Catalano, R., Goldman-Mellor, S., Saxton, K., Margerison-Zilko, C., Subbaraman, M., LeWinn, K., and Anderson, E. (2011). 'The health effects of economic decline'. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 32: 1–25.
- Charles, K. K. (2003). 'The longitudinal structure of earnings losses among work-limited disabled workers'. *Journal of Human Resources*, 38(3), 618–646.
- Couch, K.A., Placzek, D.W. (2010), 'Earnings losses of displaced workers revisited', *American Economic Review*, 100(1): 572–589.
- Davis, S.J., von Wachter, T. (2011), 'Recessions and the cost of job loss', *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 103: 1–55.
- Eliason, M., Storrie, D. (2006), 'Lasting or latent scars? Swedish evidence on the long-term effects of job displacement', *Journal of Labor Economics*, 24(4):831–856.
- Elwan, A. (1999). 'Poverty and disability: A survey of the literature'. *Social Protection Advisory Service*.
- Fogg, N. P., Harrington, P. E., and McMahon, B. T. (2010). 'The impact of the Great Recession upon the unemployment of Americans with disabilities'. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 33(3), 193–202.

- Glendinning, C., and Baldwin, S. (1988). 'The costs of disability'. In R. Walker and G. Parker (Eds.), *Money matters: Income, wealth and financial welfare*. London, England: Sage.
- Hijzen, A., Upward, R., Wright, P. (2010), 'The income losses of displaced workers', *Journal of Human Resources*, 45(1): 243–269.
- Huttunen, K., Moen, J., Salvanes, K.G. (2011), 'How destructive is creative destruction? Effects of job loss on job mobility, withdrawal and income', *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 9(5):840–870.
- Jacobson, L.S., LaLonde, R.J., Sullivan, D.G. (1993), 'Earnings losses of displaced workers', *American Economic Review*, 83(4): 685–709.
- Johansson, P., and Skedinger, P. (2009). 'Misreporting in register data on disability status: evidence from the Swedish Public Employment Service'. *Empirical Economics*, 37(2), 411-434.
- Jones, M. K. (2008). 'Disability and the labour market: a review of the empirical evidence'. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 35(5), 405–424.
- Kaye, H. S. (2010). 'The impact of the 2007–09 recession on workers with disabilities'. Monthly Labor Review, 133(10).
- Korkeamäki, O., and Kyyrä, T. (2014). 'A Distributional Analysis of Earnings Losses of Displaced Workers in an Economic Depression and Recovery'. Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, 76(4), 565–588.
- Lindquist, G. S., and Wadensjö, E. (2006). 'National Social Insurance-not the whole picture'. Stockholm: Regeringskansliet.
- Ministry of Enterprise, Energy and Communications. (2003). Appropriation Directions for the 2003 fiscal year in respect of the Swedish Labour Market Agency. Stockholm.

- Mok, W. K., Meyer, B. D., Charles, K. K., and Achen, A. C. (2008). 'A Note on 'The Longitudinal Structure of Earnings Losses among Work-Limited Disabled Workers". *Journal of Human Resources*, 43(3): 721–728.
- Palmer, M. (2011). 'Disability and poverty: A conceptual review'. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 21(4), 210–218.
- Proposition, 2005/06:1. Budgetpropositionen för 2006 (Government Bill on the National Budget for 2006). Stockholm: Regeringskansliet.
- Rege, M., Telle, K., and Votruba, M. (2009). 'The effect of plant downsizing on disability pension utilization'. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 7(4), 754–785.
- SOU 2003:95. *ArbetsKraft*. (Manpower, not available in English). Stockholm: Norstedts förlag.
- Statistics Sweden (2009). Labour market situation for disabled persons 4th quarter 2008, Information on Education and the Labour Market 2009:3.
- Stenberg, S-Å. (1998). 'Unemployment and economic hardship a combined macro- and micro-level analysis of the relationship between unemployment and means-tested social assistance in Sweden'. *European Sociological Review*, 14: 1–13.
- Stevens, A. H. (1997). 'Persistent effects of job displacement: The importance of multiple job losses'. *Journal of Labor Economics*, 165–188.
- Von Wachter, T. (2009), 'Summary of the literature on job displacement in the US and EU: What we know and what we would like to know', In: Marsden, D., Ryxc, F. (eds) Wage Structures, Employment Adjustments and Globalization: Evidence from Linked and Firm-level Panel Data, Applied Econometrics Association Series, Palgrave Macmillan.

Publication series published by IFAU – latest issues

Rapporter/Reports

- 2014:1 Assadi Anahita "En profilfråga: Hur använder arbetsförmedlare bedömningsstödet?"
- 2014:2 Eliason Marcus "Uppsägningar och alkoholrelaterad sjuklighet och dödlighet"
- **2014:3** Adman Per "Försummas gymnasieskolans demokratiuppdrag? En kvalitativ textanalys av 2009 års svenska gymnasiereform"
- **2014:4** Stenberg Anders and Olle Westerlund "Utbildning vid arbetslöshet: en jämförande studie av yrkesinriktad och teoretisk utbildning på lång sikt"
- 2014:5 van den Berg Gerard J., Lene Back Kjærsgaard and Michael Rosholm "Betydelsen av möten mellan arbetslösa och förmedlare"
- 2014:6 Mörk Eva, Anna Sjögren and Helena Svaleryd "Blir barn sjuka när föräldrarna blir arbetslösa?"
- **2014:7** Johansson Per, Arizo Karimi and J. Peter Nilsson "Könsskillnader i hur sjukfrånvaro påverkas av omgivningen"
- **2014:8** Forslund Anders, Lena Hensvik, Oskar Nordström Skans, Alexander Westerberg and Tove Eliasson "Avtalslöner, löner och sysselsättning"
- 2014:9 Engdahl Mattias "Medborgarskap, arbetsmarknaden och familjebildning"
- 2014:10 Hallberg Daniel, Per Johansson and Malin Josephson "Hälsoeffekter av tidigarelagd pensionering"
- 2014:11 Karbownik Krzysztof and Sara Martinson "Svenska högstadie- och gymnasielärares rörlighet på arbetsmarknaden"
- **2014:12** Hägglund Pathric, Per Johansson and Lisa Laun "Insatserna inom rehabiliteringsgarantin och deras effekter på hälsa och sjukfrånvaro"
- 2014:13 Regnér Johan "Effekter av yrkesinriktad arbetsmarknadsutbildning för deltagare med funktionsnedsättning, 1999–2006"
- **2014:14** Assadi Anahita and Martin Lundin "Enhetlighet och träffsäkerhet i arbetsmarknadspolitiken: Hur använder arbetsförmedlare statistisk profilering i mötet med den arbetssökande?"
- **2014:15** Edmark Karin, Markus Frölich and Verena Wondratschek "Hur har 1990-talets skolvalsreformer påverkat elever med olika familjebakgrund?"
- 2014:16 Karimi Arizo "Sen familjebildning, täta födelseintervall och kvinnors inkomster"
- 2014:17 Eliasson Tove "Bankanställdas ursprungsland och egenföretagande bland utrikesfödda"
- 2014:18 Ingmanson Staffan "Fri rörlighet inom den högre utbildningen och tillgång till svenska studiemedel"
- 2014:19 Andersson Elvira, Petter Lundborg and Johan Vikström "Arbete, löneutbetalningar och mortalitet"
- 2014:20 Sibbmark Kristina "Arbetsmarknadspolitisk översikt 2013"
- 2014:21 Nordlund Madelene and Mattias Strandh "Selektivitet och jobbchanser bland arbetslösa"
- **2014:22** Angelov Nikolay and Marcus Eliason "Vilka arbetssökande kodas som funktionshindrade av Arbetsförmedlingen?"
- 2014:23 Angelov Nikolay and Marcus Eliason "Friställd och funktionsnedsatt"
- **2014:24** Angelov Nikolay and Marcus Eliason "Lönebidrag och skyddat arbete: en utvärdering av särskilda insatser för sökande med funktionshinder"

Working papers

- **2014:1** Vikström Johan "IPW estimation and related estimators for evaluation of active labor market policies in a dynamic setting"
- **2014:2** Adman Per "Who cares about the democratic mandate of education? A text analysis of the Swedish secondary education reform of 2009"
- **2014:3** Stenberg Anders and Olle Westerlund "The long-term earnings consequences of general vs. specific training of the unemployed"
- **2014:4** Boye Katarina "Can you stay at home today? The relationship between economic dependence, parents' occupation and care leave for sick children"
- **2014:5** Bergemann Annette and Gerard J. van den Berg "From giving birth to paid labor: the effects of adult education for prime-aged mothers"
- **2014:6** van den Berg Gerard J., Lene Kjærsgaard and Michael Rosholm "To meet or not to meet, that is the question short-run effects of high-frequency meetings with case workers"
- **2014:7** Avdic Daniel, Petter Lundborg and Johan Vikström "Learning-by-doing in a highly skilled profession when stakes are high: evidence from advanced cancer surgery"
- 2014:8 Mörk Eva, Anna Sjögren and Helena Svaleryd "Parental unemployment and child health"
- **2014:9** Johansson Per, Arizo Karimi and J. Peter Nilsson "Gender differences in shirking: monitoring or social preferences? Evidence from a field experiment"
- **2014:10** Eliasson Tove and Oskar Nordström Skans "Negotiated wage increases and the labor market outcomes of low-wage workers: evidence from the Swedish public sector"
- **2014:11** Engdahl Mattias "Naturalizations and the economic and social integration of immigrants"
- **2014:12** Hallberg Daniel, Per Johansson and Malin Josephson "Early retirement and post-retirement health"
- 2014:13 Karbownik Krzysztof "The determinants of teacher mobility in Sweden"
- 2014:14 Karbownik Krzysztof "Job mobility among high-skilled and low-skilled teachers"
- **2014:15** Karbownik Krzysztof "Do changes in student quality affect teacher mobility? Evidence from an admission reform"
- **2014:16** Edmark Karin, Markus Frölich and Verena Wondratschek "Sweden's school choice reform and equality of opportunity"
- **2014:17** Karimi Arizo "Effects of the timing of births on women's earnings evidence from a natural experiment"
- **2014:18** Karimi Arizo "The spacing of births and women's subsequent earnings evidence from a natural experiment"
- 2014:19 Eliasson Tove "Immigrant entrepreneurship and the origin of bankers"
- **2014:20** Johansson Per, Lisa Laun and Mårten Palme "Pathways to retirement and the role of financial incentives in Sweden"
- **2014:21** Andersson Elvira, Petter Lundborg and Johan Vikström "Income receipt and mortality evidence from Swedish public sector employees"
- 2014:22 Felfe Christina and Rafael Lalive "Does early child care help or hurt children's development?"
- **2014:23** Nordlund Madelene and Mattias Strandh "The relation between economic and non-economic incentives to work and employment chances among the unemployed"
- 2014:24 Mellander Erik "Transparency of human resource policy"
- 2014:25 Angelov Nikolay and Marcus Eliason "Factors associated with occupational disability classification"
- **2014:26** Angelov Nikolay and Marcus Eliason "The differential earnings and income effects of involuntary job loss on workers with disabilities"

2014:27 Angelov Nikolay and Marcus Eliason "The effects of targeted labour market programs for job seekers with occupational disabilities"

Dissertation series

- 2013:1 Vikman Ulrika "Benefits or work? Social programs and labor supply"
- 2013:2 Hanspers Kajsa "Essays on welfare dependency and the privatization of welfare services"
- 2013:3 Persson Anna "Activation programs, benefit take-up, and labor market attachment"
- 2013:4 Engdahl Mattias "International mobility and the labor market"